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Letters of Transmittal
His Honour, the Honourable W. Thomas Molloy,
Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan
May it Please Your Honour:
Saskatchewan is blessed with abundant water supplies, but ensuring the safety, security and
protection of our water resources for today and our future generations will always remain a
government priority. Accordingly, I am pleased to present the Water Security Agency’s (WSA)
The Honourable Dustin Duncan 2017-18 annual report, which demonstrates the progress on its initiatives, strategies and other
commitments as of March 31, 2018.
Minister Responsible for the
A few years ago, the agency ambitiously set a course to bring together producers and communities
Saskatchewan Water Security
in a new process to ensure drainage infrastructure is sustainable, with the goal of preventing
Agency
flooding, protecting habitat and downstream properties, as well as safeguarding water quality.
WSA’s Agricultural Water Management Strategy represented the first major changes to drainage
regulations in three and a half decades. A record 693 quarter sections were brought into
compliance in 2017-18, a 371 per cent increase compared to the last year of the old regulations in
2014-15.
Producers are coming together to form priority networks to jointly address drainage concerns.
In 2017-18, the Lang West Conservation and Development Area introduced an innovative and
environmentally-responsible approach to channel their run-off into the Moose Jaw River. A single
approval was granted covering 30 quarters of sustainably-managed private agricultural land
drainage.
Our provincial dam network remains a fundamental cornerstone of our economy and way of life.
With the transfer of 20 previously-controlled federal facilities, WSA now controls and operates 69
dams in Saskatchewan. In 2017-18, the agency invested $28.7 million in ensuring these facilities
continue to operate safely and reliably. WSA continued its 10-year rehabilitation of the 22.5
kilometre M1 Canal, which supplies water from Lake Diefenbaker to Broderick Reservoir and
supports 56,000 acres of irrigation, six reservoirs, four regional water pipelines, five towns, three
potash mines, 13 wetland projects and Blackstrap Provincial Park. About two-thirds of the Canal
has been rehabilitated and when the entire project is complete in 2021, the Canal’s capacity will
increase by 52 per cent.
WSA also continues to evolve its preventive and predictive water management capacity through
investments in flood plain mapping, water management and forecasting and hydrology. Coupled
with continued investments in maintaining water infrastructure, Saskatchewan is well-positioned to
have safe and reliable water sources, and to be resilient to the impacts of climate change.
I respectfully submit the Annual Report of the Water Security Agency for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2018.
Sincerely,

Dustin Duncan
Minister Responsible for the Saskatchewan Water Security Agency
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Letters of Transmittal
The Honourable Dustin Duncan,
Minister Responsible for the Saskatchewan Water Security Agency
Dear Minister:
I have the honour of submitting the Annual Report for the Water Security Agency for the fiscal year
ending March 31, 2018.
Susan E. Ross
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Water Security Agency

Management is responsible for the financial and administrative management of the Water Security
Agency and for preparing this report in accordance with the Government’s systems of planning,
measuring and reporting. All key actions and associated economic or fiscal implications in this
report are, to the best of my knowledge, accurate and reliable.
Respectfully submitted,

Susan E. Ross, President and Chief Executive Officer
Water Security Agency
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Introduction
This annual report for the Water Security Agency presents the agency’s results for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2018. It provides
results of publicly-committed strategies, key actions and performance measures identified in the Water Security Agency’s Plan for
2017-18. It also reflects progress toward commitments from the Government Direction for 2017-18, the Saskatchewan Plan for
Growth – Vision 2020 and Beyond, throne speeches and the agency.
The annual report demonstrates the agency’s commitment to effective public performance reporting, transparency and
accountability to the public.
In October 2012, government introduced the 25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan, which established the Water Security
Agency (WSA). WSA leads the implementation of the 25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan, providing a sustainable approach
to water use that will protect the quality and quantity of water now and for the future. See Appendix A for a more detailed progress
report on the 89 actions of the 25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan.

Alignment with Government’s Direction
The agency’s activities in 2018-19 align with Saskatchewan’s vision and four goals:

Saskatchewan’s Vision
“… to be the best place in Canada – to live, to work, to start a business, to get an education, to raise a family and to build a life.”
Sustaining growth
and opportunities for
Saskatchewan people

Securing a better quality
of life for all
Saskatchewan people

Meeting the challenges
of growth

Delivering responsive
and responsible
government

Together, all ministries and agencies support the achievement of Saskatchewan’s four goals and work towards a secure and
prosperous Saskatchewan.
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Agency Overview
The Water Security Agency (WSA) is a unique organization in Canada – bringing together all of government’s core water
management responsibilities in one place. WSA manages the province’s water supply, protects water quality, ensures safe drinking
water and effective treatment of wastewater, owns and operates 69 dams and related water supply channels, helps to reduce
flood and drought damage, protects aquatic habitat, and provides information about water. The Water Security Agency represents
Saskatchewan on transboundary water issues.
The Saskatchewan 25 Year Water Security Plan guides the actions of WSA, ensuring a sustainable approach to water use that will
protect the quality and quantity of water now and for the future. WSA reports to the Minister Responsible for Saskatchewan Water
Security Agency, who also serves as a one person Board of Directors.
On March 31, 2018, WSA was operating with 206.33 full time equivalents to deliver its programs and services in 2017-18. WSA
continues to fill vacant positions.
Water Quality and Safe Drinking Water
The Water Security Agency leads the ongoing planning, implementation and reporting associated with drinking water and
wastewater governance and management in the province. WSA regulates compliance in relation to:

ÖÖ 813 regulated waterworks;
ÖÖ 611 regulated wastewater facilities; and
ÖÖ 264 liquid domestic waste haulers in Saskatchewan.
WSA monitors water quality at 24 primary surface water quality stations, as well as other locations in Saskatchewan and manages
the provincial drinking water information database (Environmental Management System – EMS) that stores all the water quality
and inspection data for all regulated works, as well as the collected surface water quality data. WSA also manages the SaskH20.ca
website, which presents drinking water-related information gathered from water management authorities within the province.
Maintaining and Investing in Water Infrastructure
In 2017-18, the Water Security Agency maintained and operated 69 dams and over 130 kilometres of conveyance channels, plus
ancillary works. Each year, WSA makes significant investments in the rehabilitation and upgrading of this infrastructure. For 2017-18,
that investment was $18.5 million. At midnight on March 31, 2017, WSA accepted ownership and operation of 20 dams previously
owned and operated by the federal government. To facilitate the transfer, these dams are being operated by Agriculture and AgriFood Canada until March 31, 2020. WSA maintains a dam safety program in general accordance with the Canadian Dam Association,
Dam Safety Guidelines. This program evaluates the ongoing performance and condition of its 69 dams and develops and maintains
emergency action plans at several high consequence structures.
Water Supply
WSA provides hydrology services including flood forecasting, operation planning, sustainable water allocation, and low-risk building
development. WSA operates a hydrometric network of 283 stations in association with the Government of Canada to collect data on
stream flows and lake levels. In addition to surface water monitoring, WSA operates the provincial ground water monitoring network
and conducts regional ground water mapping and resource assessment. This data helps us provide information to citizens and
industry to help locate water supplies. In certain areas of the province, WSA represents Saskatchewan on transboundary water issues
through membership in organizations like the Prairie Provinces Water Board, the International Joint Commission and others.
Sustainable Water Allocation
All major surface and ground water allocations require approval by the Water Security Agency to ensure sustainable water use. Water
is not owned privately in Saskatchewan. It is allocated for use and ownership is retained by the Crown. WSA acts in the public interest
to ensure the public and industry security of access. This includes municipal, industrial, irrigation and intensive livestock use.
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Reducing Flood Damage
WSA determines the flood susceptibility of proposed new subdivisions considering the 1 in 500 design standard. A design flood
event is defined as the likelihood of a certain magnitude flood event occurring annually, which in Saskatchewan means a .2 per cent
chance, or a 1 in 500 year flood event. The Emergency Flood Damage Reduction Program (EFDRP) has been offered each year since
2011 and assists citizens with implementing measures to prevent or reduce damages due to imminent flooding. The program is
being transitioned beginning in 2018 into the Flood Damage Reduction Program (FDRP) that supports mitigation measures leading
to municipal works to mitigate long-term flood damage recurrence.
Public Partnerships
Effective water management and source water protection depends on public understanding, support, and participation. The
Water Security Agency works with community representatives to develop watershed protection plans. Plans include initiatives
to help landowners improve watershed health through restoration of riparian areas, protection of grasslands and wetlands, and
encouragement of management practices that benefit fish and wildlife. Watershed stewardship groups lead implementation of
watershed protection plans with financial and technical support from WSA.
Enforcement
Fair and effective water management may occasionally require enforcement. Ministry of Environment conservation officers provide
support to the Water Security Agency for enforcement work through a contractual agreement.
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Progress in 2017-18
Government Goals
Sustaining growth
and opportunities for
Saskatchewan people

Securing a better quality
of life for all
Saskatchewan people

Meeting the challenges
of growth

Delivering responsive
and responsible
government

Strategic priorities relate to the Saskatchewan Plan for Growth vision of “Building the Infrastructure for Growth” and “Advancing
Saskatchewan’s Natural Resource and Agricultural Advantage” and the 25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan goal of “Sustainable
Supplies.”

Agency Goal: Beneficial Water Management – The Water Security Agency manages water
resources to benefit the people of Saskatchewan. This means:
ÖÖ drinking water is safe;
ÖÖ benefits from water and water management are realized;
ÖÖ risks to water availability, water quality and habitat are mitigated; and
ÖÖ dam safety, flooding and hydrological drought risks are mitigated.

Strategy – Enhance water supply to growth areas
Key Actions and Results
Continue rehabilitation of the M1 Canal to improve water supplies for drinking water, irrigation, parks, wetlands and industry.

ÖÖ Constructed in the 1960s, the M1 Canal represents one of the most significant pieces of public infrastructure in
Saskatchewan, supporting the economy, irrigators, communities and recreational users. The 22.5 kilometre water canal
extends from Lake Diefenbaker to Broderick Reservoir near Outlook. The supply canal serves Blackstrap Provincial Park
as well as three potash mines, four regional water pipelines, five towns, six reservoirs, 13 wetlands and 56,000 irrigated
acres. WSA is in the latter stages of a 10-year rehabilitation of the M1 Canal to increase canal capacity, improve reliability
and eliminate seepage.

Performance Measures
Length of M1 Canal Rehabilitated.

Before

After

ÖÖ By summer 2018, WSA will have completed rehabilitation of 17.9 kilometres or more than 80 per cent of the initial
length, with construction remaining on schedule. The rehabilitation is proceeding to the necessary performance
standards and the canal is ready to convey water. Clean-up activities will continue.

Water Security Agency
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Strategy – Lead a cross-government renewal of the provincial drinking water strategy
Key Actions and Results
Deliver regulatory programming to ensure safe drinking water and effective wastewater treatment.

ÖÖ WSA leads the ongoing planning, implementation and reporting associated with drinking water governance and
management in the province. WSA inspects and regulates compliance for 813 regulated waterworks and 611 regulated
wastewater facilities in Saskatchewan.
ÖÖ WSA monitors water quality at 24 primary surface water quality stations, as well as other locations in Saskatchewan and
manages the provincial drinking water information database (Environmental Management System or EMS) that stores
water quality and inspection data for all regulated works, as well as surface water quality data. WSA also manages the
SaskH20.ca website, which presents drinking water-related information gathered from water management authorities
within the province.
The agency continues to license and inspect drinking water systems, approve new construction, assist municipalities when problems
develop and take compliance action where appropriate.

ÖÖ For drinking water systems during 2017-18, WSA:
ªª Issued 103 permits to construct waterworks;
ªª Granted 25 environmental code “notifications” for construction of water main systems in cities;
ªª Issued, renewed, or amended 239 permits to operate waterworks;
ªª Conducted 948 inspections of waterworks; and
ªª Issued 676 Precautionary Drinking Water Advisories for regulated waterworks that were affected by reportable
upsets. There were no Emergency Boil Water Orders issued in 2017-18.
In addition, the agency issued 16 written compliance warnings and one order in relation to operation or construction of waterworks.

ÖÖ For wastewater facilities during 2017-18, WSA:
ªª Issued 78 permits to construct sewage works;
ªª Granted 19 environmental code “notifications” for construction of sewer main systems in cities;
ªª Issued, renewed or amended 150 permits to operate sewage works; and
ªª Conducted 581 inspections of sewage works.
WSA issued one written compliance warning and one order in relation to the operation of sewage works.
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Source: Water Security Agency Polling Results, 2018

ÖÖ To support WSA’s rigorous monitoring and testing regime for drinking water, WSA conducts annual research to gauge
public confidence in drinking water supplies. Based on a poll conducted by WSA in May 2018, 86.4 per cent of people
polled strongly agreed or agreed they are confident in the safety of their own drinking water. These polling results
continue to show a high level of confidence and are unchanged from the May 2017 polling results. The results are 14.4
per cent greater than December 2001, when 72 per cent of people surveyed were very or somewhat confident in the
quality of their tap water.
Annual Report for 2017-18
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ÖÖ Ongoing actions such as waterworks inspections, implementation of water quality standards, water-related workshops,
consumer education efforts, media coverage of water contamination events affecting larger centres, and consumer
notification help maintain confidence in the safety of drinking water at a relatively high level, in the mid to high 80 per
cent range since 2003. Ongoing attention to these elements of drinking water protection will help maintain this level of
public confidence in the safety of drinking water in the future. The measure indicates how efforts to ensure safe drinking
water are progressing.
Administer the new federal Wastewater Systems Effluent Regulations (WSER) to provide a one window regulatory approach for
municipal clients.

ÖÖ WSA has evaluated wastewater systems in the province. As of March 31, 2018, approximately 83 systems may require
compliance with pending Canada-wide Standards for Municipal Waste Water Effluent (MWWE). As of Dec. 31, 2017, 65
communities are subject to regulation in accordance with WSER. Additionally, another six communities will be evaluated
for possible regulation, subject to WSER, through discussions between WSA and Environment and Climate Change
Canada (ECCC).
ÖÖ The final number of wastewater systems that must be managed to the WSER standard will be finalized through ongoing
discussions between WSA and ECCC. The administrative agreement with ECCC that provides authority for WSA to
administer WSER in Saskatchewan came into effect in July 2015.
ÖÖ In accordance with sewage works permit to operate requirements, the City of Regina sewage treatment system upgrade
reached significant completion in December 2016 and entered full service in July 2017. To date, the City of Regina
sewage works upgrade has outperformed permit requirements for the quality of the treated wastewater effluent
produced, while bringing the city into early compliance with federal WSER requirements and preparing for future
growth. The City of Regina also substantially completed the installation of a third sewage force main as of
February 28, 2018. This new infrastructure provides additional capacity to convey wastewater to the treatment plant
during exteme preciptitation events, thereby reducing the potential for sewage bypasses.
Work with Ministry of Government Relations to develop more cost-effective approaches for renewal and enhancement of drinking
water and wastewater infrastructure.

ÖÖ A pilot study on strategically funding regional projects that would have economic benefits to the province has been
completed. WSA continues to review the work being done by a consultant on this pilot project on behalf of five
provincial agencies. WSA has also been working with the Ministry of Government Relations on evaluating infrastructure
grant applications and has been involved with SaskBuilds helping to suggest a baseline for evaluation of the
effectiveness of a new federal/provincial funding program that is being developed.

Performance Measures
Number of sewage effluent discharges that represent a risk to source waters
A decreasing number of sewage effluent discharges that represent a risk to source waters are a direct indication of a reduction
in the potential for source water contamination due to poor wastewater treatment, overloaded systems or systems with failing
infrastructure.
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As of March 31, 2018, approximately 72 wastewater systems were identified as having a discharge that may reach a surface water
body and represent a risk to source waters under certain conditions. This is a reduction of seven systems since the previous fiscal year
and results from greater regulatory focus on wastewater treatment system conditions and improvements.
Growth in Saskatchewan communities is also placing additional pressure on sewage infrastructure as some communities were
at treatment and/or storage capacity. On an annual basis, WSA staff review the quality of effluent from each regulated sewage
works. Reduction of ammonia and chlorine residual emissions within treated wastewater effluent, sewage works capacity or other
treatment capability issues typically involve significant planning, investment and construction. Therefore, it can be expected
that reductions in the number of works that represent a risk to source waters will be a time-consuming process. Work to resolve
problematic wastewater systems will continue for the foreseeable future.
Drinking water quality standards compliance
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This measure indicates average compliance with disinfection and bacteriological standards on WSA’s regulated municipal drinking
waterworks. High compliance rates are a good indication of drinking water safety.

Source: Water Security Agency; SEEMS Database 2018

The drinking water quality compliance indicator is an average of compliance with disinfection and bacteriological standards, both
of which measure compliance with drinking water quality standards. This indicator looks at both the results of bacteriological water
quality monitoring and the level of disinfectant present in drinking water and is a good predictor of the safety of drinking water.
Compliance with drinking water quality standards for disinfection and bacteriological quality is important as microbial
contamination in water supplies can quickly result in significant illness. Proper disinfection is an important way to ensure safe
drinking water and prevent the outbreak of waterborne diseases. The indicator reports on the actions of WSA in addressing risks to
the health of people and the environment and key actions related to ensuring safe and sustainable drinking water. The accuracy of
this indicator is fully dependent on accurate testing and reporting by regulated waterworks operators.
The drinking water quality compliance indicator has been very good for the past few years and has remained relatively stable; with
an average compliance rate of 95 per cent for the past five years. Ongoing inspection and education awareness initiatives with
waterworks owners and operators are planned to sustain good performance in achieving water that is safe from bacteriological
threats and meets disinfection standards.
Supporting sustainable and safe drinking and waste water facilities in Saskatchewan - Feature Story
In recent years, WSA has worked with a number of stakeholders and partners on projects that have substantially improved drinking
water and wastewater quality in Saskatchewan communities.
In December 2016, EPCOR completed major upgrades to the City of Regina’s Wastewater Treatment Plant that significantly improved
the quality of treated wastewater being discharged into Wascana Creek. In 2017, the treated wastewater effluent quality met all
federal and provincial standards. Additionally, as part of its ongoing improvements to its sewage collection network, the City of
Regina completed construction of a third sewage force main between the wastewater plant and its McCarthy Boulevard sewage
pumping station, increasing its pumping/handling capacity to be able to convey a 1 in 10 storm-induced flow event. Regina is now
moving forward with a multi-million dollar pump upgrade at the McCarthy Boulevard sewage pumping station to further increase
capacity and reduce the risk of untreated sewage having to be discharged to Wascana Creek during heavy rainfall.
In Milestone, highly mineralized drinking water and issues surrounding plant capacity and disinfection led to the plan to construct
a new water treatment facility. In 2017, a new Reverse Osmosis water treatment plant was commissioned that has greatly improved
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the quality and safety of the town’s drinking water, reduced the residents’ dependencies on water softeners and treatment devices
such as filters, and made way for the possible expansion of the community.
Growth in bedroom communities around Saskatoon and Regina has led to necessary improvements in infrastructure in many of
these locations. Many utilities have reached or exceeded maximum design capacities and residents demand a higher level of service
from these utilities. Over the next year, WSA will continue to work with many communities throughout the province to ensure safe
drinking water and effective wastewater treatment standards are met.

Strategy – Address critical water quality and habitat risks
Key Actions
Develop scientific knowledge to address water quality and habitat risks for Lake Diefenbaker and Buffalo Pound Lake.

ÖÖ WSA continues to work with researchers on gaining greater understanding of the conditions affecting water quality and
aquatic habitats in the province. Work continues on:
ªª Lake Diefenbaker – Analyses of Lake Diefenbaker algal communities and sensitivity to nutrient inputs have been
completed, and WSA continues to explore opportunities to conduct nutrient budget/mass balance analyses.
Collection of water quality data continues.
ªª Buffalo Pound Lake – Research completed provides a better understanding of the development of algal blooms,
algal toxin production, and taste and odour production in Buffalo Pound Reservoir. It also shows how risks for
development of algal blooms can change over time, and in response to the frequency of higher water temperatures
in a given year. Collection of water quality data continues.
Complete the three-year water quality study of the Qu’Appelle River system.

ÖÖ Monitoring of water quality of the Qu’Appelle River system has been completed. WSA staff are currently reviewing the
data and compiling a report on the findings and conclusions of that work.

Strategy – Complete critical operation plans and project manuals for WSA dams.
Key Actions
Complete Reservoir Operation Plans and project manuals for Gardiner, Rafferty and Grant Devine dams.

ÖÖ The Gardiner Dam Operation, Maintenance, and Surveillance manual has been started. It will rely on the reservoir
operating plans for a portion of the manual. The technical maintenance manuals for Gardiner, Qu’Appelle, Rafferty and
Grant Devine are complete.
ÖÖ Manual analysis for Rafferty Dam has been completed and a draft of the Operating Manual is finalized.
ÖÖ Hydrology Services will be beginning analysis and simulations of operations of Grant Devine Reservoir. A consultant has
initiated preparation of the Lake Diefenbaker Reservoir Operating Plan. Hydrology Services and Flow Forecasting are
working with the consultant to determine finalized operating rules and additional analysis.
Complete Reservoir Operating Plans for Lac La Ronge and Candle Lake.

ÖÖ The Reservoir Operating Plans for Lac La Ronge and Candle Lake have not been completed. The work is considered
important, but not urgent at this time. WSA will incorporate this key action into a more comprehensive work plan
discussion.
ÖÖ A guiding template for Reservoir Operating Plans and Reservoir Management Manuals has been completed, and draft
Reservoir Operating Plans have been prepared for Wascana Lake and Buffalo Pound Lake. Priority of order to complete
remaining Reservoir Operating Plans will be determined in next fiscal year.

Strategy – Plan transition of transferred federal dams
Key Actions
Assess requirements to transition the operation and management of the transferred federal dams.

ÖÖ The addition of the Infrastructure Planning Manager as well as dedicated Legal Counsel during 2017-18 have assisted in
advancing all aspects of the federally-transferred dams.
ÖÖ WSA continues to gather information on and determine priorities, critical paths, and impacts to finalize the overarching
project plan for the remainder of the transition period ending in March 2020.

Water Security Agency
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Strategy – Conduct priority rehabilitation work on WSA dams
Key Actions
Complete upgrades on Crooked Lake, Grant Devine, Rafferty and Buffalo Pound dams and continue renewal work on other dams as
per the 10-Year Rolling Infrastructure Rehabilitation Plan.

ÖÖ Overall, the 10-Year Rolling Infrastructure Rehabilitation Plan is on track, with projects in different stages of progress.
Many of the projects represent multi-year work.
ªª Crooked Lake Dam – The construction of the replacement control structure is significantly delayed by land control
issues. Discussions are ongoing with area First Nations, and private landowners. WSA will continue to seek resolution
of the land control issues.
ªª Grant Devine Dam – The preliminary designs to upgrade the outlet capacity of the spillway have been deferred
until next fiscal year. WSA will need to seek confirmation of the future of the downstream railway embankment
prior to making a significant investment in the spillway. Further dialogue with CP Rail will occur and an engineering
consultant will be engaged.
ªª Rafferty Dam – WSA is awaiting the outcome of a study that evaluates conceptual rehabilitation work on the drainage
system for the existing spillway and an increase in the overall spillway capacity, which will provide updated tail water
information at the dam.
ªª Buffalo Pound Dam – One gate was substantially completed this year with the other two being planned for
rehabilitation next year.

Performance Measures
Risk associated with WSA dams and number of WSA dams requiring upgrades.

ÖÖ The 10-Year Water Management Infrastructure Renewal Plan is intended to decrease these risks. The first measure
indicates the overall risk associated with WSA dam infrastructure. The second quantifies the number of WSA dams
requiring upgrades to meet the provisions of the Dam Safety Guidelines (2007) published by the Canadian Dam
Association.

Number of Deficient Dams

This measure quantifies the number of Water Security Agency dams which require upgrades to meet the provisions of the Dam
Safety Guidelines (2013) published by the Canadian Dam Association. Like all provincial governments and major utilities across
Canada, WSA manages its works in general accordance with these guidelines. For 2017-18, WSA was responsible for the operation
and maintenance of 69 dams. On March 31, 2017, the Agency accepted ownership and operation of 20 more dams from the federal
government. These dams are included in the risk measure calculated for 2017-18.
Depending upon the dam, a failure could have significant economic and safety consequences. However, unlike the risk ratio, this
measure does not indicate the severity of the identified deficiencies. This measure is useful in gauging progress made over time to
reduce the number of deficient dams.
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The Failure Probability of a Water Security Agency dam is assessed in terms of:
(a) hydrology/hydraulic,
(b) geotechnical, and
(c) structural/electrical/mechanical condition rating factors.
These three rating factors vary from 0 (adequate) to 9 (grossly inadequate) for a maximum possible Failure Probability of 27.
A dam having at least one condition rating factor of three or greater is deemed to be a deficient dam. The information used to
determine Failure Probability values comes from a variety of sources including: annual inspections; internal and external dam
safety reviews; design and assessment studies; issue identification by site staff/project operators; and review of dam performance
monitoring data.
The number of deficient dams increased from 28 in 2016-17 to 52 in 2017-18. Of the 20 dams transferred from the federal
government, 19 were deficient. Of the original 49 dams, an additional five dams, including Gardiner Dam, Star City Dam, Lac la Ronge
Dam, Five Mile Dam and Woody Lake Weir changed status to deficient owing to ongoing and gradually worsening deficiencies.

This graph shows the risk associated with WSA’s dams by considering both the likelihood and the consequences of a dam failure.
It is a measure of the safety of the dams and of progress in upgrading the dams to acceptable standards. A higher score indicates
increased risk. WSA uses the ratio of the assessed current risk to the total possible risk to establish targets and measure progress in
reducing risk associated with its dams. Risk, defined as the probability of a failure multiplied by the consequences of a failure, has
been assessed in relative values. The Assessed Current Risk is determined by multiplying the Failure Rating and the Consequence
Rating for each structure.
The annual change in the Risk Ratio is also shown. A reduction in the Risk Ratio is an indicator of annual progress with capital
projects and an increase in the Risk Ratio is an indication of the continued vigilance required.
The information used to determine Failure Probability values comes from a variety of sources including: annual inspections; internal
and external dam safety reviews; design and assessment studies; issue identification by site staff/project operators; and review of
dam performance monitoring data. Consequence ratings are assessed for each structure and based upon an estimation of life safety,
economic damages, and restoration costs in the case of a failure. A lower ratio indicates safer infrastructure, with a ratio of zero
indicating no current assessed risk.
Numerically the risk ratio can be expressed as:

ÖÖ Risk Ratio= Sum of Assessed Current Risk / Sum of Total Possible Risk.
The risk ratio increased to 0.334 in 2017-18 from 0.275 in 2016-17 principally due to taking over 20 dams from the federal
government. There were increased failure probabilities at 19 of WSA’s non-major dams due to internal inspections, assessments or
continued deterioration. There were no decreases in failure probabilities. Work plans for 2018-19 will continue to look at a number of
key issues at WSA’s dams.

Water Security Agency
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Strategy – Address priority drought and flood damage mitigation needs
Key Actions
Work with Ministry of Agriculture to develop a hydrological drought preparedness plan.

ÖÖ The hydrological drought preparedness plan will require new dedicated resourcing to complete. On an interim basis,
WSA began work to plan contents for a Saskatchewan-based drought preparedness plan.
Continue working with stakeholders to reduce flood damages at Quill Lakes, Lenore Lake and Little Manitou Lake.

ÖÖ The flood damage management strategy, while somewhat unique to the topography of each area, carries similarities in
that simple resolutions do not exist. In particular, the Quill Lakes basin is one of the most complex water management
situations in Canada. The Water Security Agency has reviewed a wide range of flood mitigation options and those
options have very high costs compared to the achievable results. WSA continues to work with the watershed
association, local rural municipalities, and producers on options to address the challenges in the area.
ÖÖ WSA is investing time and resources in the area. A Wadena office was established with staff assigned to the area.
ÖÖ Little Manitou Lake is currently at an elevation of 497.5 metres above sea level, approximately 1 centimetre below the
peak level recorded last year. The present level is 1.6 metres higher than it was in 2010.
ÖÖ The Emergency Flood Damage Reduction program administered by WSA raised approximately 2.5 kilometres of the
existing dyke system at the Resort Village of Manitou Beach. The $3.2 million project started in 2016 with construction
finished in 2017. Since 2011, there has been roughly $7 million invested in flood protection measures for the
community.

Strategy – Implement the new approach to drainage
Key Actions
Finalize a policy on drainage.

ÖÖ Since September 2015, the Water Security Agency has been implementing the Agricultural Water Management Strategy.
New regulations, legislation and policies have been implemented to support responsible drainage. Responsible
drainage allows producers to manage water while addressing the impacts on neighbours and the environment.
ÖÖ Individual policies and practices that support the wider strategy are undergoing development. WSA continues
developing drainage policies with the committees involved with the Agricultural Water Management Strategy.
Define process to determine adequate outlets for drainage approvals.

ÖÖ A draft policy and methods document has been developed, which will form the basis for a technical manual.

Performance Measures
Number of drainage approvals issued.

ÖÖ This measure is an indicator of progress in implementing the new approach to drainage. An approval allows for a
network of drainage works to operate with impact mitigation measures and practices in place. As the new approach to
drainage matures, an increasing number of approvals will be issued.
ÖÖ The Agricultural Water Management Strategy has made significant progress over the last year.
ªª At the end of 2017-18 fiscal year, 693 quarters (114,000 acres) of land have been brought into compliance through
either approvals or closures. This represents a 371 per cent increase over the last year of the old regulations in 201415, and WSA expects increases every year as the Strategy takes hold.
ÖÖ The 693 quarters of land brought into compliance through approvals or closures in 2017-18 is broken down to:
ªª 156 Approvals to Operate covering 635 quarter sections of land, and
ªª 58 quarter sections of land brought into compliance by closure through the Request for Assistance process.
Year

RFAs/Formal Complaints Resulting in Closure

Drainage Approvals 1/4 sections

Total Compliance 1/4 sections

2014/2015

14

133

147

2015/2016

16

110

126

2016/2017

84

244

328

2017/2018

58

635

693

Total

172

1122

1294
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The story behind record drainage compliance numbers – Feature story
WSA’s Agriculture Water Management Strategy reflects the Saskatchewan cooperative approach towards solving public policy
challenges.
Drainage has been a key part of settling Saskatchewan. It has made land available for communities, roads, crops and resource
development. However, poorly designed drainage projects can have negative impacts, such as local to large-scale downstream
flooding and infrastructure damage, degraded water quality from erosion and increased contaminants, and negative impacts on
wildlife habitat.
Over the past years, the agency worked with a number of Saskatchewan producers and stakeholders, including watershed
stewardship groups, agricultural groups, conservation and development area authorities, and watershed associations to discuss
proposed directions, implement changes and to achieve greater compliance.
The strategy brings drainage works into compliance through approvals and, where necessary closures, once other avenues have
been exhausted. The new approach will move Saskatchewan toward responsible agricultural water management by streamlining the
regulatory system, effectively addressing the risks associated with drainage in the approval process, and enabling development of
sustainable drainage projects with more long-term certainty. The strategy is designed to offer water quality and habitat protection,
reduce flood peaks, improve groundwater recharge, and provide a means for carbon sequestration.
Drainage proponents are now empowered to take responsibility for designing, constructing, and operating drainage works by
undertaking the necessary actions to minimize the negative impacts of drainage. Key aspects of the strategy encourage responsible
agricultural water management to minimize conflict and enable appropriate drainage to continue, through the implementation of
an efficient risk-based regulatory system.
One of the major success stories was the Lang West Conservation and Development (C&D) Area. Farmers in the region southeast of
Regina formed the C&D in 2012 after major flooding in 2011 and came up with an innovative, environmentally responsible approach
to channel runoff into the Moose Jaw River. Together with the help of the Moose Jaw River Watershed Stewards (MJRWS), the group
approached the WSA with a drainage solution that was approved in March 2018. A single approval was granted covering 30 quarters
of agricultural land, lessening the risk of floods and protecting certain wetlands, while also managing wildlife habitat impacts.
The MJRWS was engaged by WSA and the Lang West group to act in the role as a Qualified Person (such as a professionsal engineer,
agrologist, science technologist or specifically-trained individual) to develop the application for drainage approval. Together with
WSA regional staff and the Lang West group, the group worked to find a sound solution to ensure this project would succeed and
mitigate risks to the area.
Under the Strategy, all drainage and affliated networks need approval. In drainage networks, groups of producers and other
landowners work together to operate a drainage project that drains into an adequate outlet. A coordinated approach creates
efficiencies for both effectively draining land and reducing impacts.
The Strategy is a paradigm shift for landowners as this is the first major change in drainage regulations in three and half decades.
After two years of hard work, the strategy saw real results in 2017-18, paving the way for future success.
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Government Goals
Sustaining growth
and opportunities for
Saskatchewan people

Securing a better quality
of life for all
Saskatchewan people

Meeting the challenges
of growth

Delivering responsive
and responsible
government

Agency Goal: People and process excellence – The Water Security Agency strives to
achieve excellence in everything it does. This means:
ÖÖ Citizens understand and endorse our actions;
ÖÖ Citizens are satisfied with our service; and
ÖÖ We seek to continuously improve our results.

Strategy – Build critical water management partnerships
Key Actions
Negotiate an amendment to the Prairie Provinces Water Board (PPWB) Master Agreement on Apportionment to improve
transboundary aquifer management.

ÖÖ Canada has requested more time to review the interprovincial documentation and the implications of the agreement
to federal jurisdictions with its linkages to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. Canada is also investigating
whether the Federal government should be a schedule signatory. Canada has assigned up to four federal lawyers to the
review. Saskatchewan’s legal review of the draft agreement was completed earlier.
ÖÖ There is no definitive timeframe for the amendment to the PPWB Master Agreement as WSA continues to wait for
comments/revisions from Canada.
Support the Souris Basin study with the International Joint Commission, Canada, Manitoba, the United States, and North Dakota.

ÖÖ The International Souris River Study Board, with WSA representation, has initiated the Plan of Study. The Board has
committed to fund a temporary position at WSA to support its work. WSA will work with Environment and Climate
Change Canada (as study leaders on the Canadian side) on a comprehensive plan for provincial representation in the
study.
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2017-18 Financial Overview
Water Security Agency operations resulted in a $2.814 million surplus this year. WSA had budgeted for a deficit of $10.954 million.
Revenues were $1.504 million, or 3.6 per cent over budget and expenses for regular operations, at $40.499 million, were $2.23 million
higher than the prior year and $12.548 million below budget.
Revenues above budget resulted from higher than budgeted water power revenue, industrial water use, irrigator water supply
revenue from the transferred federal infrastructure, and from greater than budgeted interest revenues.
Expenses under budget resulted from delays in anticipated work at transferred federal infrastructure, from lower than budgeted
compliance and enforcement costs, and lower than budgeted Emergency Flood Damage Reduction Program costs. Staff vacancies
and restraint measures throughout the Water Security Agency resulted in a reduction in salary costs as well as reduced program
activities and related costs.
WSA invested $18.885 million in tangible capital assets during the year. This investment included use of WSA financial assets that
resulted in the majority of the decrease in cash of $11.451 million.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of WSA. Management maintains a system of
accounting and administrative controls to ensure that accurate and reliable financial statements are prepared and to obtain
reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded, and financial records are maintained.
These statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, using management’s best
estimates and judgement where appropriate.
WSA’s external auditor, Deloitte LLP, expresses an independent opinion on these statements. Its report provides the scope of its audit
and states its opinion.
The Water Security Agency Board has approved these financial statements. The Annual Report, which includes these financial
statements, is tabled in the Legislative Assembly.
On behalf of Water Security Agency,

Susan E. Ross
President and Chief Executive Officer

Marjorie Simington
General Counsel and Acting Vice President, Corporate Services
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Deloitte LLP
2103 - 11th Avenue
Mezzanine Level
Bank of Montreal Building
Regina, SK S4P 3Z8
Canada
Tel: 306-565-5200
Fax: 306-757-4753
www.deloitte.ca

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of the Legislative Assembly
Province of Saskatchewan
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Water Security Agency, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations
and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Water Security Agency as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations, changes in its net
assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Professional Accountants
May 28, 2018
Regina, Saskatchewan

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Statement 1
WATER SECURITY AGENCY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31
($ thousands)
2018
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash
Accounts receivable

$

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue (Note 5)
Employee future benefits (Note 6)
Long-term debt (Note 7)
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (Note 8)
Prepaid expenses
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

$

2017

73,174
7,676
80,850

$

84,625
10,450
95,075

7,461
392
930
37,114
45,897

7,316
392
970
42,476
51,154

34,953

43,921

381,717
793
382,510

370,508
220
370,728

417,463

$

414,649

Commitments, Contingencies and Contractual Rights (Notes 10 and 15)
See accompanying notes
On behalf of the Board:

Annual Report for 2017-18

Director

19

Water Security Agency

Statement 2
WATER SECURITY AGENCY
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
($ thousands)
2018

Budget

(Note 13)

REVENUE
Government of Saskatchewan
- General Revenue Fund
Federal government transfer funds
Transfer of assets from federal government
Water revenue
Contract revenue (Schedule 1)
Other

$

EXPENSES (Schedule 2)
Corporate services
Legal, regulatory and aboriginal affairs
Water use and licensing
Special projects - drainage initiative
Integrated water services administration
Quill Lakes agricultural water management
Regional services
Watershed services
Technical and interjurisdictional services
Infrastructure management - engineering and dam safety
Hydrology and groundwater services
Drinking water and wastewater management
Water quality services
Interest
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Surplus for the year, before the following
Revenue related to flood relief projects (Note 4)
Expenses related to flood relief projects (Note 4)
Deficit related to flood relief projects

15,660
24,000
648
1,785
42,093

$

18,255
350,000
28,762
22,400
683
3,042
423,142
6,500
1,545
721
1,124
4,156
1,334
612
5,155
2,991
4,137
3,088
1,378
5,528
38,269

(10,954)

3,098

384,873

2,000
2,000
-

1,869
2,153
(284)

(10,954)

Accumulated operating surplus – beginning of year

414,649
$

$

7,303
1,117
919
580
652
199
4,438
1,097
910
4,423
2,930
4,052
3,001
1,218
7,660
40,499

Operating surplus (deficit) for the year

Accumulated operating surplus – end of year

15,660
25,017
591
2,329
43,597

7,093
2,827
1,006
594
749
1,000
5,477
1,365
1,030
8,693
3,495
5,936
3,262
1,223
9,297
53,047

-

Transfer to General Revenue Fund (Note 11)

2017
Actual

Actual

403,695

$

2,826
6,516
(3,690)

-

350,000

2,814

31,183

414,649

383,466

417,463

$

414,649

See accompanying notes
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Statement 3
WATER SECURITY AGENCY
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
($ thousands)
Budget

2018

2017
Actual

Actual

(Note 13)

$

Surplus (deficit) for the year

(10,954)

$

(29,467)
9,297
(31,124)

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Transfer of assets from federal government
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets

Net acquisition of prepaid expenses

Net financial assets – beginning of year
$

Net financial assets – end of year

$

31,183

(18,885)
7,660
(39)
55
(8,395)

(15,496)
(28,762)
5,528
3
(7,544)

(573)

(27)

(31,124)

(8,968)

(7,571)

43,921

43,921

51,492

-

Decrease in net financial assets

2,814

12,797

$

34,953

$

43,921

See accompanying notes
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Statement 4
WATER SECURITY AGENCY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
($ thousands)
2018

2017

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Surplus for the year

$

Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets
Transfer of assets from federal government
Net change in non-cash balances relating to operations:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee future benefits
CAPITAL ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal portion of loan repaid in year
Decrease in cash, during the year
Cash – beginning of year
$

Cash – end of year

2,814

$

31,183

7,660
(39)
-

5,528
(28,762)

2,774
(573)
145
(40)
12,741

(1,541)
(27)
305
(27)
6,659

(18,885)
55
(18,830)

(15,496)
3
(15,493)

(5,362)

(5,202)

(11,451)

(14,036)

84,625

98,661

73,174

$

84,625

See accompanying notes
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
1. STATUS OF THE WATER SECURITY AGENCY
The Water Security Agency (WSA), which was originally established as the Saskatchewan Watershed
Authority on October 1, 2002, was continued under The Water Security Agency Act, on October 1, 2012. It
is a Treasury Board Crown corporation within the meaning of The Crown Corporations Act, 1993.
WSA is mandated to integrate all aspects of provincial water management to ensure water supplies support
economic growth, quality of life and environmental well being. WSA supports protection of drinking water,
flood and drought response, and management of water supplies, water quality and aquatic habitat. WSA owns
and operates provincial dams and water supply channels.
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. The following accounting standards are considered to be significant:
Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Internally provided engineering and technical services are
capitalized at charge out rates designed to recover salaries, benefits and overhead. The objective of this policy
is to recognize the approximate value of design, supervision and administrative services rendered by WSA
employees on construction projects. As well, WSA capitalizes interest expense on debt relating to specific
construction projects. Amortization of assets under development commences once they are operational and
available for use. Water infrastructure assets include land and earthen dams, which are not amortized because
they do not degrade over time, if adequately maintained.
Charges for amortization are calculated at the following annual rates:
Leasehold improvements
Buildings
Maintenance equipment
Office equipment
Water infrastructure

straight-line over term of lease
straight-line
diminishing balance or straight-line,
as appropriate
straight-line
straight-line

4%
15% to 30%
10% to 50%
1.67% to 20%

In order to conform to the accounting policies of the Province of Saskatchewan, a change has been made in the
calculation of asset amortization from amortizing only those assets purchased or completed in the first six
months of the year to amortizing all assets purchased or completed during the year. Also, formerly no
depreciation was taken on assets disposed of during the first six months of the year, this has now changed to no
depreciation being taken on any assets disposed of during the year. The effect of this change on the current
period is an increase of $1.5 million in amortization expense, with a corresponding increase in accumulated
amortization and decreases in surplus for the year, accumulated surplus and net book value of tangible capital
assets.
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue Recognition
Government transfers are recognized as revenue in the period during which the transfer is authorized and
eligibility criteria are met, except when and to the extent that the transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation
that meets the definition of a liability.
Contractual revenue received by WSA for specific purposes is recognized as revenue in the year in which the
related expenses are incurred. Water revenue is recognized as revenue in the year it is consumed. Other
revenue includes licenses, fees, permits, and interest income which are recognized in the year they are earned.
Grants to Clients
Grants provided to clients for a variety of programs are recorded as an expense to WSA, when any eligibility
criteria have been met and final approval for the grant payment is made. Where WSA enters into contractual
agreements for project construction under various assistance programs, expenses are accounted for on an
accrual basis.
Employee Future Benefits
WSA administers a benefit relating to a retirement allowance which is paid to eligible employees upon
retirement. WSA has adopted the accrual method of accounting for this benefit whereby the cost of providing
the benefits is recorded when the related services of employees are performed. WSA's employees participate in
the Public Employees Pension Plan which is a multi-employer contribution plan. WSA's contributions to the
pension plan are expensed as incurred.
Measurement Uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use
of management estimates relate to the useful lives of assets for amortization periods and employee future
benefits.
Financial Instruments
All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument is the
amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm's-length transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The carrying amounts of these instruments approximates
fair value due to their short-term nature.
Remeasurement Gains and Losses
These financial statements do not include a Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses as WSA has had
no gains or losses due to remeasurement.
Restructuring Transactions
In 2017, WSA early adopted Public Sector Accounting Standard 3430 regarding recognition of assets and
liabilities in restructuring transactions, as WSA received the transfer of twenty water management structures
from Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC - a Federal Government agency). This standard was applied
prospectively therefore the recording of similar transactions in prior years to 2017 were not adjusted. Federal
water infrastructure assets were recorded as Tangible Capital Assets, recognized at AAFC's carrying amounts
at the time of transfer to WSA, totaling $28.762 million. This amount was recognized as revenue at March 31,
2017.
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
3. NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS
The following new standards and amendments to standards, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
April 1, 2017, have been analyzed in preparing these financial statements:
·

PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures

·

PS 3420 Inter-Entity Transactions

·

PS 3210 Assets

·

PS 3320 Contingent Assets

·

PS 3380 Contractual Rights

The adoption of these standards and changes to standards has had no material impact on the WSA financial
statements.
A number of new standards and amendments to standards which may impact the Agency are not yet effective
for the year ended March 31, 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.
The following new standards and amendments to standards are effective for financial statements on or after
April 1, 2019:
·

PS 2601 Foreign Currency Translation

·

PS 1201 Financial Statement Presentation

·

PS 3041 Portfolio Investments

·

PS 3450 Financial Instruments

The extent of the impact on adoption of these standards is not known at this time.
4. FLOOD RELIEF PROJECTS
In 2011, an "Emergency Flood Damage Reduction Program" (EFDRP) was implemented by the Province to
provide, on a cost-shared basis, funding to assist individuals and communities with flood preparation. WSA
was allocated the funds to lead this program on behalf of the Province and flooding issues have been ongoing.
In fiscal 2018, $2 million was provided from the General Revenue Fund for the 2017 flood program. WSA is
reimbursed by Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada (AANDC) for assistance provided to
First Nations to combat flood damage. WSA is also leading the work, on behalf of the Province, related to longterm solutions to flooding at Fishing and Waldsea Lakes.
WSA recognized the following funding for flood relief initiatives:
General Revenue Fund - Emergency Flood Damage Reduction
Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada

WSA recognized the following expenses for flood relief initiatives:
Emergency Flood Damage Reduction Program
Fishing and Waldsea Lakes
Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada
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2018
2,000
(131)
$
1,869

$

2018
1,075
1,074
4
$
2,153

$

2017
2,000
826
$
2,826

$

2017
3,715
1,791
1,010
$
6,516

$
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
5. DEFERRED REVENUE
2018
392
392
(392)
$
392

Balance, beginning of year
Fees collected
Recognition of prior year deferred revenue
Balance, end of year

$

2017
392
392
(392)
$
392

$

6. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
The amounts related to the defined benefit retiring allowance are as follows:
$
$
$

Accrued benefit liability
Benefits paid during the year
Net expense

2018

930
154
115

$
$
$

2017

970
139
113

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring WSA's accrued benefit liability at March 31 are:
2018
2.90%
2.25%
2.00%
11.3 years

Discount rate
Inflation rate
Salary increase
Average remaining service life

2017
3.10%
2.25%
2.00%
10.8 years

For 2017 and 2018, the mortality assumption is based on the 2014 Canadian Pensioner Mortality Table
(CPM2014) using the CPM Improvement Scale B, for the private sector without size adjustment factors.
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
7. LONG-TERM DEBT
Conexus Credit Union 2006 - ten year loan bearing interest at 3.98% per
annum, due March, 2021
Bank of Montreal - ten year loan bearing interest at 3.40% per annum, due
March, 2022
TD Commercial Banking - ten year loan bearing interest at 2.65%, due
November, 2022
National Bank of Canada - ten year loan bearing interest at 3.51%, due
December, 2023
Bank of Montreal - ten year loan bearing interest at 3.03% per annum, due
December, 2024
TD Commercial Banking - ten year loan bearing interest at 2.69%, due
November, 2025
Total Debt

2018
$

$

2017
926

$

1,210

1,814

2,231

3,335

4,009

5,550

6,420

10,888

12,331

14,601
37,114

$

16,275
42,476

Long-term debt repayments are as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
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5,525
5,695
5,871
5,718
5,143
9,162
37,114
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
8. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Land
Cost
Balance, March 31, 2017 $ 5,155
Additions
Disposals
Balance, March 31, 2018 $ 5,155

Buildings and
leasehold
improvements
$
1,858
$
1,858

Maintenance
equipment
$
4,265
341
(148)
$
4,458

Office
equipment
$ 2,439
181
(290)
$ 2,330

Water
infrastructure
$ 483,192
18,363
$ 501,555

Total
$ 496,909
18,885
(438)
$ 515,356

Accumulated
Land
Amortization
Balance, March 31, 2017 $
Amortization
Disposals
Balance, March 31, 2018 $

Buildings and
leasehold
improvements
$
1,471
93
$
1,564

Maintenance
equipment
$
3,501
373
(132)
$
3,742

Office
equipment
$ 1,986
334
(290)
$ 2,030

Water
infrastructure
$ 119,443
6,860
$ 126,303

Total
$ 126,401
7,660
(422)
$ 133,639

-

Buildings and
leasehold
Maintenance Office
Water
Land
improvements equipment
equipment infrastructure
Net Book Value
Balance, March 31, 2017 $ 5,155 $
387 $
764 $
453 $ 363,749

Total
$ 370,508

Balance, March 31, 2018

$ 381,717

$ 5,155

$

294

$

716

$

300

$

375,252

Included in tangible capital assets are assets under construction worth $8,404 (2017 - $6,695).
9. GRANTS TO CLIENTS
Included in expenses are grants or assistance provided to various persons and organizations to carry out a
variety of programs administered by WSA. Particulars of these grants, by program, are as follows:
Flood Control and Drainage
Emergency Flood Damage Reduction Program
Watershed Implementation and Projects
Stewardship - Water Quality
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2018
402
721
849
138
$
2,110
$

2017
393
2,990
842
123
$
4,348
$
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contractual Commitments
As of March 31, 2018, WSA has outstanding commitments of $4,746 (2017 - $5,599) for construction
contracts, consulting agreements, software licensing, watershed funding agreements and other services. Within
various contractual agreements, WSA has committed to provide in-kind services. If contracts were terminated,
WSA's only liability would be for actual costs incurred to date.
Leases
WSA has entered into various operating lease agreements with the following minimum lease payments:
2019
$
1,792
2020
1,282
2021
927
2022
698
$
4,699
Litigation
WSA is party to twelve lawsuits (2017 - fifteen), related to various water management issues. The outcome of
these lawsuits cannot be determined therefore no amounts have been allowed for settlement in these
statements.
11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Included in these financial statements are transactions with various Saskatchewan Crown corporations,
ministries, agencies, boards and commissions related to WSA by virtue of common control by the Government
of Saskatchewan.
Routine operating transactions with related parties are settled at prevailing market prices under normal trade
terms. These transactions and amounts outstanding at year end, are as follows:
2018
2017
General Revenue Fund - operating grant
$ 17,660 $ 20,255
Water, contract and other revenue
22,304
20,198
Purchases
5,685
5,455
Transfer to Government of Saskatchewan - General Revenue Fund
350,000
Accounts receivable
5,282
6,845
Accounts payable
482
526
Details of amounts and transactions due to and from related parties and the terms of settlement are described
separately in these financial statements and the notes thereto.
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
($ thousands)
12. PENSION PLAN
During the year, WSA's employees participated in the Public Employees Pension Plan (the Plan), which is a
defined contribution pension plan. WSA's contributions to the Plan included making regular payments into the
Plan. The total amount paid into the Plan for 2018 was $1,253 (2017 - $1,258).
13. BUDGET FIGURES
The budget figures are presented for comparison purposes. WSA’s Board of Directors approved the 2018
budget on February 24, 2017.
14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
WSA's financial assets consist of cash and accounts receivables. Financial liabilities consist of accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, employee future benefits, deferred revenue and long-term debt.
Credit risk
WSA is exposed to credit risk from the potential non-payment of accounts receivable. The carrying amount of
accounts receivable represents WSA's maximum credit exposure.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is $nil (2017 - $nil).
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that WSA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. WSA
monitors its cash balances and cash flows from operations to meet its requirements.
Interest rate risk
WSA is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed rate long-term debt. The fixed rate instruments subject WSA
to a fair value risk due to interest rate fluctuations in the market.
15. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS
WSA is party to certain contractual rights which are expected to provide future economic benefits to the
organization. Contracts have been signed for haying and grazing leases around WSA infrastructure which, if
the subject land is not flooded, will provide up to $0.2 million in revenue from the lessees in 2018-19, as
well as $0.1 million per year for 2019-20 to 2020-21 and $0.05 million in 2021-22. An agreement with
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada provides for revenues from water supply to irrigators around dams
transferred to WSA at March 31, 2017, which is expected to provide revenues of $0.25 million per year in
2018-19 and 2019-20.
16. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
WSA has adjusted certain amounts reported previously to conform with the current year's presentation.
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WATER SECURITY AGENCY
Schedule 1 - Contract Revenue
Year Ended March 31
($ thousands)

2018
Canadian Wildlife Service
Saskatchewan Wildlife Federation
Environment Canada
Wildlife Habitat Canada
Saskatchewan Ministry of Environment - Fish & Wildlife
Ducks Unlimited Canada
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$

$

2017
138
250
93
10
100
591

$

$

212
250
85
36
100
683

Water Security Agency

WATER SECURITY AGENCY
Schedule 2 - Expenses by Program
Year ended March 31
($ thousands)

Corporate
services
Salaries and benefits
Travel and other staff costs
Professional services
Office supplies
Materials
Contractual services
Cash grants
Salary allocations
Other expenses
Total

$

$

3,918
574
644
1,055
5
15
(324)
1,416
7,303

Water Security Agency

Legal, regulatory
and aboriginal
affairs
$

$

849
27
178
10
30
23
1,117

Water
use and
licensing
$

$

904
20
72
7
(107)
23
919

Special projects drainage
initiative

Integrated
water services
administration

Quill Lakes
agricultural
water management

$

$

$

$

266
17
199
3
88
7
580

$

253
24
91
3
30
79
149
23
652

$

-

19
37
7
2
111
23
199

Regional
services
$

$

3,349
217
21
79
4
13
352
(134)
537
4,438

32

Watershed
services
$

$

237
8
64
4
820
(42)
6
1,097

Technical and
interjurisdictional Infrastructure
services
management
$

$

278
9
65
3
98
52
405
910

$

$

3,555
272
418
52
84
507
(634)
169
4,423

Hydrology and
groundwater
services

Drinking &
wastewater
management

$

$

$

1,901
169
20
23
25
815
(85)
62
2,930

$

3,192
259
101
41
13
262
(4)
188
4,052

Water
quality
services
$

$

1,888
125
526
33
20
138
(88)
359
3,001

2018

Interest &
amortization
$

$

8,878
8,878

2017

Total
$

$

20,590
1,740
2,436
1,320
153
1,770
1,389
(1,018)
12,119
40,499

Total
$

$

20,363
1,613
2,366
1,218
156
1,691
1,359
5
9,498
38,269
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For More Information
Please visit wsask.ca or SaskH20.ca.
Inquiries 306-694-3900
Email: comm@wsask.ca
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Appendix A
25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan Report for 2017-18
Action Number

Action Description

1.1a

Promote adoption of best conservation and efficiency practices and technology through education,
regulations, water licence conditions and new programming
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA is developing a new water allocation policy that will provide guidance on water licensing
conditions around efficient water use.

1.1b

Investigate pricing strategies as a means of promoting water conservation
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: It is anticipated that this work will be incorporated into the ongoing development of an allocation
policy in 2018-19.

1.1c

Work with partners to promote research and development of innovative technology that improves the efficient
use of water
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: This action was abandoned in Spring 2015.

1.2a

Evaluate existing water supplies and future demands for the next 25 years and beyond to determine the need
for new infrastructure across the province
Completion Target Year: 2016 and Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: A number of specific projects associated with this action have been completed via the Strategic
Integration Unit; however, reassignment of WSA resources has left the action as Dormant/Pending. Therefore,
WSA will revisit the purpose and utility of this action as part of a 25 Year Water Security Plan renewal.

1.2b

Investigate alternative measures to increase the delivery of water from Lake Diefenbaker to Buffalo Pound Lake,
including evaluation of the feasibility of the Qu’Appelle South irrigation project
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2014-15.

1.2c

Examine alternative ways of instituting the concept of “user-pay” with respect to the development of additional
provincially owned, multi-purpose water supply infrastructure
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2014-15.
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Action Number

Action Description

1.3a

Develop a modern system of water allocation, including a new allocation policy and regulations
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Work on allocation policy is continuing and expected to be completed in 2018-19 as an amended
legislative framework is brought forward.

1.3b

Review existing water rights licences and assess current water use
Completion Target Year: 2014 (priority)/2016 (other)
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: All existing industrial, municipal, and “other” surface water files have been reviewed. A review of
irrigation files, with the exception of the southwest region, has been completed. A prioritized review of SW
irrigation files is ongoing and being carried out in conjunction with a number of programs to divest provincial
and federal irrigation assets, transfer community pastures, and a review of backflood irrigation projects that
may require drainage approvals.

1.3c

By watershed, determine the existing use of water, level of protection of environmental flows, how much water
is available for future allocation, and identify areas where water scarcity may be a factor
Completion Target Year: 2014(priority)/2016 (other)
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Water use data is collected and compiled annually with the ability to report use by watershed as well
as by sector. Development of standard reporting products for use in internal and external communication is
ongoing with the Communications Unit.

1.4a

Work with Canada to continue to assess and seek funding support for further irrigation opportunities
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Growing Forward 2 programming was accessed and funds were paid out for irrigation development.
Up to the completion of the program on March 31, 2018, $21 million was provided to irrigation districts for
infill and $4.7 million was provided to non-irrigation district farmers for new development. Also, $357,000 was
provided to support existing irrigators to adopt best management practices. Beginning on April 1, 2018, new
irrigation programming was made available through the Canadian Agricultural Partnership to support new
development and adoption of best management practices.

1.4b

Develop an irrigation strategy that prioritizes opportunities for infill and new irrigation projects for
development and assess the need for irrigation infrastructure rehabilitation
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Completed in 2014. The Ministry of Agriculture hosted an irrigation stakeholder meeting in November
2015 to obtain industry feedback. The Ministry plans to keep the irrigation strategy current through ongoing
dialogue with the irrigation industry and incorporating revisions, where possible, while maintaining strategy
ownership.

1.4c

Work with Canada to transfer ownership of federal irrigation projects to local patrons
Completion Target Year: 2017
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Discussions with federal-provincial governments on the transfer of the ownership of federal irrigation
projects to local patrons continue. The federal government extended its self-imposed deadline of March 31,
2017, by two years to focus on the transfer of federal dams.
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Action Description

1.4d

Develop new criteria for allocation licensing based on best practices and new technologies to sustainably
support irrigation
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Completed in 2017-18. New irrigation water licences are being issued by Water Security Agency
based on actual usage requirements and availability in consultation with the ministry. Irrigation districts water
licences will be similarly updated by WSA in the future.

1.5a

Continue work with research partners on climate change impacts to identify possibilities for adaptation
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Research has been completed on Lake Diefenbaker algal communities and sensitivity to nutrient
inputs with implications for climate change responses. WSA continues to explore opportunities to conduct
additional nutrient budget/mass balance analyses. WSA is continuing work to gain a greater understanding of
conditions affecting algal bloom formation at Buffalo Pound Lake. Planning work on increasing the outflow at
the spillway on Rafferty Dam has started.

1.6a

Develop detailed aquifer maps
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Rather than focusing on maps, the agency is focusing on describing and understanding individual
aquifers (i.e., characteristics, flow dynamics, etc.) as opposed to mapping the spatial extent and distribution of
the groundwater resources.

1.6b

Analyze the water supply situation in the major rivers
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: A number of specific projects associated with this action have been completed via the Strategic
Integration Unit; however, reassignment of WSA resources has left the action as Dormant/Pending. Therefore,
WSA will revisit the purpose and utility of this action as part of a 25 Year Water Security Plan renewal.

1.6c

Determine the existing water use by sector and delineated by the major basin
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2013-14.

1.6d

Examine projected water demand by sector within major basins to the year 2060
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2013-14.

1.6e

Identify environmental flows to support the aquatic ecosystem
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Temporarily stalled or behind Schedule. Further field investigations have been deferred until strategic
funding opportunities arise.
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Action Number

Action Description

1.7a

Determine economic value of water in alternative uses
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. A final report has been received and will be incorporated into the development of an
allocation policy.

1.7b

Assess how the economic value of water could be used in allocation decision making
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Final report has been received and will be incorporated into the development of allocation
policy.

2.1a

Review and update the province’s approach to safe drinking water, including consideration of the 2002 Laing
Report and the 2002 Safe Drinking Water Strategy
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Two-thirds complete. Awaiting related meeting and feedback from Saskatchewan Health. Further
review and analysis also intended.

2.1b

Investigate and encourage opportunities for regional water treatment plants and distribution pipelines to
increase access to, and protection of, high quality drinking water
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The agency has met with SaskWater and SaskWater is promoting opportunities within its plan. A
Strategic Utility Pilot was completed with government partners via a contract with McNair Business Consulting
to develop a strategic approach to regional utility development and to evaluate the feasibility and financial
factors influencing the development of regional systems.

2.1c

Evaluate the financial needs of communities for operation, maintenance and renewal of water infrastructure
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. During 2015, Water Security Agency required 188 municipalities to do assessments of
their waterworks. The assessment included examination of the financial viability of drinking water systems
including: annual operation and maintenance costs of the municipal waterworks, an estimate of the capital
replacement costs of any major system components that are expected to require replacement within the next
10 years, approximate cost estimates for anticipated non-routine maintenance, upgrades or expansions, and
recommendations of appropriate water rates to meet future costs. Waterworks system assessment on smaller
systems were completed in previous years. WSA to perform reporting
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2.1d

Develop a strategy to encourage communities to renew drinking water infrastructure
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: The province has committed to being a funding partner under the federal New Building Canada
Fund and Clean Water and Wastewater Fund. In 2017-18, Saskatchewan announced provincial funding for 41
projects that have a municipal drinking water component with total project costs of $62.4 million. Drinking
water infrastructure renewal will also be supported through the federal Gas Tax Fund. Municipalities are also
able to utilize unconditional Municipal Revenue Sharing funds for infrastructure projects, at their discretion.
Priority northern municipal water projects continue to be addressed with project management support from
SaskWater. The Northern Water and Sewer Program provided funding to upgrade water and sewer systems
in northern communities. Northern water and wastewater projects are also receiving funding under the New
Building Canada Fund and Clean Water and Wastewater Fund.

2.1e

Assess, with federal and First Nations governments, opportunities for the province to provide infrastructure,
including connections to regional water systems, and technical and inspection services on reserves on a costrecovery basis
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Information and assessment of the option for provision of drinking water via regional infrastructure
is performed during meetings, public events and interaction with First Nations, as well as during general
educational efforts on safe drinking water. WSA will be evaluating the provision of inspection services as
regulations are developed pursuant to The Safe Drinking Water for First Nations Act. Consideration of possible
regulation of the Whitecap Dakota First Nation water and sewage works has been put on hold at the request of
the First Nation. Little further work outside regular regional system promotion is possible.

2.2a

Review and rationalize the regulatory regime applying to semi-public systems
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Some consideration of this is being incorporated into the review for item 2.1. Anticipate progress over
2018-19 fiscal year. Also awaiting related meeting and feedback from Saskatchewan Health.

2.2b

Support research on water treatment technologies for point of use/point of entry water systems
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Final report on the Coteau Hills Rural Water Pipeline was received. The trial point of entry system failed
to meet turbidity requirements. Currently considering what other options are feasible for provision of potable
water to those served by raw water pipelines. WSA agreed to meet with SARM in 2018-19 to discuss options.

2.3a

Implement an effective education and information strategy to raise awareness of drinking water safety issues,
including information on proper well management, system operation and maintenance, water quality testing,
and identification of and solutions for groundwater quality problems
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: In 2017-18, 17 fact sheets and 33 publications related to drinking and wastewater management
were updated. In 2016-17, applications for approval to operate and construct waterworks and sewage works
were revised and posted and are currently in use. Revised Operator Certification Standards came into effect
on December 4, 2016 with ongoing implementation as a means to guide operator certification decisions in
Saskatchewan.
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Action Description

2.3b

Encourage testing of private water supplies, including testing for heavy metals
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Behind schedule.

2.3c

Provide water testing and treatment advice in at risk locations during emergency events such as flooding that
pose a high risk of drinking water contamination
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Generally when emergency conditions exist that threaten water supplies, WSA fulfills this ongoing role,
although there were no significant events in 2017-18. For example, during the Husky Energy oil spill into the
North Saskatchewan River, WSA conducted water quality sampling, provided advice to affected municipalities
as to when to close intakes, and provided advice and direction on use of alternative sources while intakes
were closed. WSA reviewed water quality data collected by WSA and Husky, as well as Husky’s HHRA report
to determine when intakes could be redeployed. Also WSA altered affected municipal Permits to Operate
monitoring schedules to ensure water quality information was provided to consumers.

3.1a

Evaluate the status of existing municipal wastewater facilities to determine needs for upgrades
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. WSA completed a technical assessment of the status and capacity of all regulated
wastewater systems in Saskatchewan in 2015-16. Also completed evaluation of risk assessments for wastewater
systems subject to the Wastewater System Effluent Regulations (WSER) and the Canadian Council of Ministers
of the Environment Canada-wide Strategy for Municipal Wastewater Effluents. Tracked the status of municipal
wastewater facility for compliance with standards as a means to direct needed upgrading priorities. Work
intended by the 25 year plan is complete; however, WSA is tracking progress on upgrades to wastewater
treatment systems given the WSER, MWWE and regulatory implications/requirements.

3.1b

Develop an agreement with Environment Canada (now ECCC) for coordinated implementation of the Canadian
Council of Ministers of the Environment Municipal Waste Water Effluent Canada-Wide Strategy and the federal
Wastewater System Effluent Regulations
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. As of July 2015, an agreement was in place with Environment Canada for WSA to deliver
the Wastewater System Effluent Regulations in Saskatchewan. Two coordination committee meetings were held
with Environmentand Climate Change Canada and implementation under the agreement will continue.

3.1c

Develop a strategy to encourage the renewal of municipal wastewater treatment infrastructure to ensure
protection of water quality in receiving water bodies
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: The province has committed to being a funding partner under the federal New Building Canada
Fund and Clean Water and Wastewater Fund. In 2017-18, Saskatchewan announced provincial funding for 38
projects that have a municipal wastewater component with total project costs of $54.8 million. Wastewater
infrastructure renewal will also be supported through the federal Gas Tax Fund. Municipalities are also able
to utilize unconditional Municipal Revenue Sharing funds for infrastructure projects, at their discretion.
Priority northern municipal water projects continue to be addressed with project management support from
SaskWater. The Northern Water and Sewer Program provided funding to upgrade water and sewer systems
in northern communities. Northern water and wastewater projects are also receiving funding under the New
Building Canada Fund and Clean Water and Wastewater Fund.
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3.1d

Develop coordinated policies to reduce risk of water contamination that may result from residential wastewater
management in high density rural developments and cottage subdivisions
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Progress has been made in policy discussions with Government Relations with regard to
application of needs for proper communal wastewater treatment systems in communal settings. Requirements
for engineered communal sewage works are now being included through subdivision-based developments.

3.1e

Define water quality objectives, including nutrient-related objectives, for surface water bodies and
watercourses in the province, beginning with the highest priority systems and including work on key
transboundary sites
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Water Quality Objectives developed and implemented for PPWB interprovincial sites at six locations
on the AB/SK border and six locations on the MB/SK border. Work is ongoing through the Qu’Appelle
Basin nutrient loading study to better understand and define the levels of nutrients entering that priority
watercourse. More stringent effluent nutrient quality criteria have been implemented for upgraded sewage
works.

3.1f

Implement a recreational lake water quality monitoring program for swimming areas at lakes across the
province
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Health
Update: Completed. Base program is now considered to be implemented and will be delivered annually.

3.1g

Provide information and encourage the implementation of beneficial land and water management practices to
reduce non-point sources of nutrients and other contaminants to surface and groundwater
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Provided training and coordination of WSA support to field delivery of Ministry of Agriculture-led
Growing Forward 2 (GF2), water-related best management practices. Coordinated WSA policy and technical
input into Ministry of Agriculture-led development of next iteration of GF2. Provided grant administration,
technical advice, training, performance monitoring and reporting services to 11 Watershed Stewardship Groups
as primary delivery model for GF2.

3.1h

Complete the Boreal Watershed Initiative
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Environment
Update: Completed. In 2015-16, the Ministry of Environment concluded a five-year study assessing the health
of watersheds in northern Saskatchewan, which paints an overall positive picture for the province’s Boreal
region.
Launched in 2011, the ministry’s Boreal Watershed Initiative provides a baseline assessment on the health of
Saskatchewan’s northern watersheds. Saskatchewan’s Boreal region contains some of the largest and highestquality freshwater resources on Earth. This natural freshwater reservoir has global significance, where water
quality and availability are dependent upon the integrity of these watersheds.
This study provides an understanding of the state of the environment and potential changes we may be
seeing on the landscape. Researchers and consultants can use these results to identify regional environmental
responses to multiple land uses by industry and others.
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3.1i

Define a strategy to reduce the contamination risk posed to groundwater sources by abandoned water wells
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2013-14. Through the five-year Canadian Agricultural Partnership (CAP), funding
by federal and provincial governments is available to support water development and environmental
programming. This includes the Farm and Ranch Water Infrastructure Program (FRWIP) which supports
improved public safety and the reduction of potential groundwater contamination through rural well
decommissioning. Through FRWIP, well decommissioning projects are eligible for a rebate of 90 per cent of
eligible costs to a maximum payment of $150,000 per project.

3.1j

Negotiate with Canada a new commitment to continue the Environmental Farm Plan Program, with a focus on
nutrient management and protection of water supplies
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Completed in 2013-14.

3.2a

Prepare a new provincial wetland policy that includes an assessment of the status of wetlands in the province
and identification of conservation priorities, including a strategy to retain and restore wetlands
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Work on this file has been delayed until the Wetland Loss Mitigation Policy is developed within
the Agricultural Water Management Strategy. The Wetland Loss Mitigation Policy is one part of the overall
provincial wetland policy.

3.3a

Establish site-specific objectives for environmental flows in priority surface water systems
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY•: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Qu’Appelle discussions complete. Cypress Hills/Mountain Sucker discussions complete.

3.3b

Prepare an aquatic alien species strategy to identify and address significant threats to biodiversity and
ecosystem health
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Environment
Update: The Ministry of Environment developed a draft Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS) Strategy in consultation
with other government agencies and NGOs in early 2017. The Government of Saskatchewan has implemented
a number of actions to prevent aquatic invasive species from entering our province and doing harm to waters
they invade.
Prevention is of the utmost importance. The government has focused on public awareness through education
and targeted signage about the Clean, Drain, Dry program, roadside boat inspections, decontaminations and
regular monitoring of Saskatchewan’s busy waterbodies.
Saskatchewan also partners with provincial organizations, Canada Border Services Agency, and provincial
governments in British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and the Yukon to coordinate prevention on a regional
basis.
The AIS strategy was finalized in early 2018 and is currently expected to be released in summer 2018. To date,
no invasive mussels have been found within Saskatchewan.

Annual Report for 2017-18

41

Water Security Agency

Action Number

Action Description

3.3c

Develop protocols with the Department of Fisheries and Oceans to ensure the ongoing protection of fish
habitat under the new federal Fisheries Act
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Coordination of Aquatic Habitat Protection Permitting process with Fisheries and
Oceans Canada’s (DFO) new approach has been achieved. Provincial-federal issues are dealt with through the
Saskatchewan Fisheries Issues Committee.

3.4a

Update the source water protection planning process to achieve resilient, locally appropriate source water
protection plans that are informed by science to identify key local threats to source water protection, address
drinking water source protection, and identify achievable solutions for implementation.
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: A pilot project with five watershed stewardship groups (WSG) to develop a source water protection
(SWP) extension program was completed in 2017. Further progress involves completing the community
inventory and risk assessment for an additional three watersheds in 2017-18, as well as conducting SWP
planning processes in three communities. The SWP community inventory/risk assessment is complete in 11
of the 29 watersheds in the province and next year’s work involves making more progress toward complete
coverage as well as involving more of the 11 WSGs and undertaking SWP planning in additional communities.

3.4b

Work with Saskatchewan Association of Watersheds to more clearly identify the future roles and responsibilities
of watershed and aquifer planning groups, including the renewal of source water protection plans
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: As the Saskatchewan Association of Watersheds (SAW) is experiencing governance issues in which
member WSGs have have cancelled their membership recently, a leadership decision around the role of SAW is
needed to progress further on this action.

3.4c

Evaluate the need to expand source water protection planning to additional watersheds or aquifers
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Leadership decision around role of Saskatchewan Association of Watersheds needed to progress
further on this action.

3.4d

Assess and renew the approach to implementing source water protection plans to ensure that threats to source
water are mitigated into the future
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: A source water protection extension program pilot project report, March 2017, was advanced to
executive and direction has been given to proceed with the program (see action 3.4a).

4.1a

Implement the Water Security Agency’s 10 year plan for infrastructure rehabilitation and dam safety
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The major initiatives in the 10 year plan have been addressed with the exception of the Crooked Lake
Structure replacement, which is behind schedule.
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4.1b

Establish legislative requirements for dam safety for both public and private dams and identify long term
strategies for compliance
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The legislative requirements for dam safety for both public and private dams have been identified;
however, the decision was made to approach this without going through legislative renewal. Therefore, no long
term strategies for compliance are in place at this time.

4.1c

Complete emergency preparedness plans for major Water Security Agency dams
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2013-14.

4.2a

Review existing reservoir operating plans and update them on a priority basis
Completion Target Year: 2014(priority)
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The template for Reservoir Operating Plans and Reservoir Management Manuals has been completed;
however, the priority of order to complete the actual Reservoir Operating Plans will be determined as part of a
more comprehensive work plan discussion.

4.2b

Negotiate transfer of federally owned infrastructure to the province where appropriate to meet provincial
interests
Completion Target Year: 2017
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Twenty federal dams were transferred as of midnight March 31, 2017.

5.1a

Develop improved flood forecasting tools
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Based on the Recommendations for Saskatchewan Hydrologic Modelling report completed by the
Centre for Hydrology at the U of S late 2016, Flood Forecasting and Operations Planning (FFOP) is currently
completing a model inter-comparison project, building four hydrologic models for two test basins, to assess
which model is the best fit for runoff forecasting in Saskatchewan. FFOP is also completing some hydrologic
modelling training in 2018 and possible training on a reservoir simulation model. There are also plans to collect
cross section data in 2018 for hydraulic model construction and developing an improved tool for creating the
Saskatchewan River System 10-day Forecasts.
The addition of one FFOP Engineer in March 2018, and another one planned for June 2018, plus the increased
budget provided to FFOP will accelerate development of flood forecasting tools.

5.1b

Develop a provincial emergency flood response plan that addresses community, individual and local
government responsibilities
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: Completed. The all-hazards Provincial Emergency Management Plan is reviewed annually and updated
as needed.
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5.1c

Develop a strategy to ensure communities and the public have access to flood hazard information and are
aware of potential flood risks
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: SaskAlert system is in place for emergency alerting. Updating floodplain mapping is on the 2018-19
workplan.

5.1d

Undertake a flood risk assessment of municipal drinking water and wastewater infrastructure
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. WSA’s Environmental Project Officers have general awareness of the flood risk to drinking
water and wastewater infrastructure. No formal listing of facilities at risk has been started yet.

5.1e

Encourage municipalities to map flood risk areas associated with under-capacity of wastewater and storm
sewer infrastructure as projected in the Insurance Bureau of Canada’s report on impacts associated with climate
change
Completion Target Year: 2020
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: The province continues to implement a broad disaster mitigation strategy with a focus on flood risk, in
part to capture funding under the federal National Disaster Mitigation Program (NDMP). The province assisted
Corman Park and Saskatoon in obtaining NDMP flood map funding and continues to assist Prince Albert with
an application. The province is also developing a multi-municipal flood mapping application(s) for the final
2018 program intake with the project to be completed in 2020.

5.1f

Implement the flood protection and prevention measures established in The Statements of Provincial Interest
Regulations into local official community plans and zoning bylaws
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: This is ongoing, and is being implemented as communities renew their official community plans and
zoning bylaws. In 2017-18, 60 new planning bylaws were approved with flood prevention and protection
measures as contained within the Statements of Provincial Interest Regulations. In addition, 1,025 subdivisions
totaling 1,775 sites were approved that meet the flood protection standards contained within the Statements of
Provincial Interest Regulations.

5.1g

Pursue negotiations with Canada to develop and implement a new long term federal-provincial program for
flood mitigation as part of an all hazards program
Completion Target Year: 2028
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Government Relations
Update: The province continues to work with the federal government in addressing disaster reduction for
communities under the National Disaster Mitigation Program(NDMP). In 2015, Saskatchewan was approved for
NDMP funding to complete a provincial natural hazard risk assessment by spring 2018 to rank our most costly
and dangerous natural hazards. This work is being completed by the Saskatchewan Research Council. The
province also continues federal/provincial discussions regarding the 10-year, $2 billion Disaster Mitigation and
Adaptation Fund that is to launch in 2018. This funding is for large-scale structural mitigation measures.
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5.2a

Assess the range of alternatives and implement strategic actions to manage drainage
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. The action is essentially complete. WSA has implemented the Agricultural Water
Management Strategy. As part of the strategy, new policies and processes are developing and evolving,
and efficiencies are being gained. WSA continues to focus efforts in achieving compliance in the vulnerable
watersheds and areas with high numbers of complaints.

5.2b

Develop a results-based drainage works approval process and associated enforcement strategy, including the
potential use of financial penalties
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA has developed a new drainage works approval process and is continuing to work on the
compliance and enforcement strategy. An essential component of the new process is the communication
component of the new strategy, which will help agricultural producers to understand and move towards
compliance. This communication component is evolving.

5.2c

Develop new strategies to effectively address excessive moisture concerns on agricultural lands, including
provision of information and advice on proper drainage design and management and consideration of the
benefits of wetland retention and restoration
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The Minister appointed members of the Agricultural Water Management Policy Advisory Committee
to help develop a Wetland Loss Mitigation Policy acceptable to agricultural producers and those outside the ag
community. The Committee continues to meet to develop balanced mitigation policy.

5.3a

Develop a coordinated provincial drought response plan that includes monitoring, preparedness, response,
and recovery approaches
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Ministry of Agriculture
Update: Completed. The drought response plan was completed in the 2015-16 fiscal year.

5.3b

Develop new regulations for water allocation to help manage water shortages during droughts
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Work has been completed on allocations. However, work is proceeding on development of legislation
to deal with severe shortages and drought. This is part of the larger revision to The Water Security Agency Act.
Water allocation regulations will follow the legislation.

6.1a

Complete a strategic review of major monitoring programs, including surface water, groundwater and water
quality
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. This was completed in 2015-16 Q1 with Weather Innovations launching our precipitation
data mapping site. A more collaborative approach with other provincial agencies to establish a Saskatchewan
mesonet (a network of automated weather and environmental monitoring stations) is being investigated by
the SRC.
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6.1b

Develop an integrated geographically referenced database to provide government-wide and public access to
water-based information
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The public online Water Wells application has been upgraded to a location-based platform; however,
the development of an integrated geographically referenced database to provide access to all water-based
information is behind schedule. Online GIS applications have been focused on support of the Drainage
Application processes.
Development of an Information Management Plan for WSA is a pre-requisite for continued work on the above.

6.1c

Consolidate precipitation data and information through the development of cooperative agreements and
partnerships with government and non government organizations
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. A cooperative agreement for rainfall mapping products was signed with Weather
Innovations Network, and the resulting product is available at weatherinnovations.com.

6.2a

Establish protocols for informing the public during emergencies related to flood, drought, infrastructure failure,
and water quality and drinking water concerns
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2014-15. The work completed was directly related to the SaskAlert System which is
the Government of Saskatchewan’s emergency public alerting program that provides critical information on
emergencies in real time. Ministries, Crowns and Agencies of the Province have the ability to issue alerts for
their areas of responsibility when emergency events are occurring that have the potential to affect life and
safety.

6.2b

Develop a user-friendly water information portal on the new Water Security Agency web site to make
information on water and water management issues widely available
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: The wells database is nearly ready to be posted on the WSA’s website using Geocortex. The intent is to
follow with other data sets.

6.2c

Report on progress in implementing the 25 Year Water Security Plan
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Reported by means of this document.

6.2d

Publish the State of the Watershed Report every five years in an expanded form which can be applied by
government in the renewal of the 25 Year Saskatchewan Water Security Plan and by the public in decision
making
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA will provide material for State of Environment Report, but will no longer publish a State of the
Watershed Report.
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6.3a

Support the work of the Global Institute for Water Security at the University of Saskatchewan in their
assessment of the water supply and quality issues in the South Saskatchewan River
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA continues to work with researchers on gaining greater understanding on the climate conditions
affecting water quality and aquatic habitats in the province. Work has started on:

6.3b

ÖÖ Lake Diefenbaker – incorporating climate change impacts on its water quality study;
ÖÖ Buffalo Pound Lake – evaluating various conditions impacting the lake;
ÖÖ Rafferty Dam – planning work commenced on increasing the outflow at the spillway.
Identify opportunities to collaborate with external academic and research partners on defining and
undertaking strategic research initiatives
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Collaborating with the university on flood forecasting improvements. WSA has also engaged in
work with the Prairie Adaptation Research Collaborative to better understand future water supply through
evaluation of historical tree ring research. Planning work on increasing the outflow at the spillway on Rafferty
Dam is occurring.

7.1a

Develop modern and comprehensive water legislation
Completion Target Year: 2014
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: On track to respond to call for legislation in fall 2018, with public consultations in 2019 and legislation
introduced in fall 2019.

7.2a

Establish provincial Deputy Ministers’ Water Committee
Completion Target Year: 2013
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Committee held one meeting.

7.2b

Work with Canada to identify opportunities to improve regulatory and program coordination and collaboration
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA continues to meet with Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) and Environment and Climate
Change Canada under the protocol agreement to discuss issues of concern. WSA has signed an agreement to
lead implementation of the federal Wastewater System Effluent Regulations.

7.3a

Develop improved models for engagement with First Nations and Métis to better understand their perspectives
on water and water management and facilitate effective working relationships
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA is moving from a model focused on training staff to a new model based on the success WSA has
working with non-aboriginal communities. One key shift then is to move from a dialogue centred on adverse
impacts to an interest-based and collaborative approach. The second key shift is to do this on a case-by-case
basis using a mentoring approach rather than through training.
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7.3b

Where water management decisions may have an adverse impact on the exercise of treaty and aboriginal
rights and pursuit of traditional uses, consult with First Nations and Métis in accordance with the First Nations
and Métis Consultation Policy Framework
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA continues to consult with First Nation and Métis local governments regarding regulatory
approvals or planning initiatives in an attempt to identify potential adverse impacts to treaty or Aboriginal
rights and to seek options for avoiding or mitigating such impacts.

7.4a

Establish the Provincial Water Council with sector-based representation
Completion Target Year: Abandoned
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: This action has been abandoned. WSA has developed an engagement strategy which includes regular
meetings with major stakeholders instead of a water council.

7.5a

Investigate new approaches to engage the public and local governments on water issues and decisions of
importance to them
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. WSA has developed a new engagement strategy.

7.6a

Continue to work with the Prairie Provinces Water Board to evaluate the resiliency of the Master Agreement on
Apportionment
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed. Work to continue as ongoing issues arise.

7.6b

In support of the Mackenzie River Basin Board, negotiate bilateral agreements with Alberta and Northwest
Territories
Completion Target Year: 2016
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Work is on hold pending other priority items.

7.6c

Continue to work with the International Souris River Board of the International Joint Commission (IJC) to
establish an enhanced operating plan for Rafferty and Grant Devine (formerly Alameda) reservoirs
Completion Target Year: 2015
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Inflow design flood confirmation to come followed by drafting of the reservoir operating plan and
solicitation of United Stated feedback. Cooperating with IJC on moving the study forward.

7.6d

Continue to support the work of the Council of the Federation Water Stewardship Council to use information
and experience from other jurisdictions across Canada to address water problems in Saskatchewan
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Completed in 2013-14. Study aquifers around Regina and Estevan area. Develop and maintain
models of different basins. Work to continue as ongoing issues arise.
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7.6e

Continue to work with the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment to address emerging water issues
common to all jurisdictions
Completion Target Year: Ongoing
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: WSA has and continues to participate on the CCME Water Management Committee to address water
related issues common to jurisdictions across Canada. Saskatchewan is providing input into prioritization of
emerging water issues in order to direct Water Management Committee work over the next several years.

7.7a

Undertake comprehensive water management analyses for priority surface and groundwater systems
Completion Target Year: 2014(priority)/2016(other)
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Refinements and improvements associated with this action item have progressed; however, the work
has evolved since the action was originally developed. Therefore, WSA will revisit the purpose and utility of this
action as part of a 25 Year Water Security Plan renewal.

7.7b

Implement new watershed modeling and database management systems to allow efficient evaluation of new
requests for water and ensure that cumulative effects are considered
Completion Target Year: 2014(priority)/2016(other)
LEAD AGENCY: Water Security Agency
Update: Refinements and improvements associated with this action item have progressed; however, the work
has evolved since the action was originally developed. Therefore, WSA will revisit the purpose and utility of this
action as part of a 25 Year Water Security Plan renewal.
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Organizational Structure
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Appendix C
Legislation Administered by Water Security Agency
The Water Security Agency Act
The Conservation and Development Act
The Water Power Act
The Watershed Associations Act
Portions of The Environmental Protection Act, 2010
Portions of The Public Health Act, 1994
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